IN THE NEVADA SUPREME COUR Electronically Filed Jul 21 2021 03:27 p.m.

Elizabeth A. Brown

Clerk of Supreme Court

Rickie Slaughter,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

Charles Daniels, et al.,

Respondents-Appellees.

On Appeal from the Order Denying Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) Eighth Judicial District, Clark County (A-20-812949-W | 04C204957) Honorable Tierra Jones, District Court Judge

Petitioner-Appellant's Opening Brief

Rene Valladares Federal Public Defender, District of Nevada *Jeremy C. Baron Assistant Federal Public Defender 411 E. Bonneville Ave. Suite 250 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 388-6577 | jeremy_baron@fd.org

*Counsel for Rickie Slaughter

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a final order denying Mr. Slaughter's March 27, 2020, petition for a writ of habeas corpus. The lower court issued a notice of entry of a written order denying the petition on February 12, 2021. XXII.App.4520-29. Mr. Slaughter filed a timely notice of appeal on March 5, 2021. XXII.App.4530-32. This Court has jurisdiction under NRS 34.575.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Because this post-conviction appeal involves convictions for Category A felonies, this appeal isn't presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. *See* Nev. R. App. P. 17(b)(3). This Court should retain this case because it raises important issues regarding, among other things, Mr. Slaughter's innocence.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The State charged Mr. Slaughter with various crimes related to a home invasion in North Las Vegas. The prosecution's main evidence was four eyewitnesses who purported to identify Mr. Slaughter from a first, suggestive photo lineup. But the police also showed the eyewitnesses a second, less suggestive photo lineup with Mr. Slaughter's photo in it. The prosecution failed to tell the defense the outcome of that second photo lineup viewing and indeed misled the defense about the results. Only in February 2018 did Mr. Slaughter learn *none* of the eyewitnesses identified him from the second photo lineup.

Mr. Slaughter raised this issue (and others) in a 2018 post-conviction petition. While those proceedings were pending, Mr. Slaughter deposed the lead prosecutor, Marc DiGiacomo. Mr. DiGiacomo admitted he didn't disclose the outcome of the second photo lineup to the defense and said he was concerned the second photo lineup would be a liability for the prosecution at trial. Mr. Slaughter unsuccessfully attempted to incorporate that deposition testimony into his 2018 proceedings. After those efforts failed, he filed a new 2020 petition, while the 2018 proceedings remained pending. Ultimately, this Court erroneously denied Mr. Slaughter's appeal regarding his 2018 petition.

The issues in the present appeal include:

1. Is this Court's previous decision from the last appeal binding in this appeal, even though Mr. Slaughter is relying on new evidence including deposition testimony from the lead prosecutor showing the State withheld exculpatory evidence—and even though Mr. Slaughter can prove he's innocent?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal involves the lower court's dismissal of Mr. Slaughter's successive post-conviction petition.

The State began the relevant criminal proceedings against Mr. Slaughter by issuing a criminal complaint on July 1, 2004. I.App.51-52. Mr. Slaughter initially entered a guilty plea on April 4, 2005. I.App.162-206. The court sentenced him on August 8, 2005. I.App.211-29; I.App.234-35. After multiple appeals, this Court ultimately issued an opinion on March 27, 2009, reversing and remanding the case to allow Mr. Slaughter the opportunity to withdraw his plea. III.App.569-77.

On remand, Mr. Slaughter went to trial, which began on May 12, 2011. IV.App.709-868; V.App.869-1101; VI.App.1102-74. The jury found him guilty on all counts. VI.App.1175-78. The court sentenced him on October 16, 2012. VI.App.1199-268. Mr. Slaughter appealed; this Court affirmed on March 12, 2014. VI.App.1269-74.

Mr. Slaughter filed his first (pro se) state post-conviction petition on March 25, 2015. VII.App.1275-443. The lower court declined to hold a hearing and issued an order denying the petition on July 24, 2015. VII.App.1504-15. Mr. Slaughter appealed; this Court affirmed on July13, 2016. VIII.App.1612-14.

Mr. Slaughter filed his second (pro se) state post-conviction petition on February 12, 2016. VIII.App.1516-96. The lower court declined to hold a hearing and issued an order dismissing the petition on June 13, 2016. VIII.App.1597-611. Mr. Slaughter appealed; the Nevada Court of Appeals affirmed on April 19, 2017. VIII.App.1615-19.

Mr. Slaughter filed his third state post-conviction petition—his first counseled petition—on November 20, 2018. XII.App.2443-514. The lower court declined to hold a hearing and issued an order dismissing the petition on April 15, 2019. XIII.App.2754-79. Mr. Slaughter appealed; this Court affirmed on October 15, 2020. XXII.App.4505-13.

Mr. Slaughter filed his fourth state post-conviction petition—the petition at issue in this appeal—on March 27, 2020. XXII.App.4369-437. The State filed a motion to dismiss on April 29, 2020. XXII.App.4442-71. Mr. Slaughter filed an opposition on May 7, 2020. XXII.App.4475-503. The lower court declined to hold a hearing and issued an order dismissing the petition on February 12, 2021. XXII.App.4520-29. Mr. Slaughter filed a timely notice of appeal on March 5, 2020. XXII.App.4530-32.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The State prosecuted Mr. Slaughter for multiple crimes related to a home invasion that took place in North Las Vegas in June 2004. At trial, the prosecution presented four eyewitnesses who claimed to have identified Mr. Slaughter from a photo lineup. But the State failed to tell the defense the same eyewitnesses were unable to identify Mr. Slaughter from a *second* photo lineup.

Mr. Slaughter couldn't confirm that fact until February 2018. At that point, he began to pursue new state court litigation in late 2018. That litigation was ultimately unsuccessful.

While those 2018 proceedings were pending, Mr. Slaughter deposed the lead prosecutor in his case, Marc DiGiacomo. Mr. Slaughter then made various unsuccessful attempts to incorporate Mr. DiGiacomo's deposition testimony into the 2018 proceedings. After those attempts failed, Mr. Slaughter filed a new post-conviction petition in 2020, primarily so the courts could consider Mr. DiGiacomo's testimony along with Mr. Slaughter's claims and arguments. Those 2020 proceedings are the subject of this appeal.

I. Someone breaks into Ivan Young's house and robs the inhabitants.

Two individuals went into Ivan Young's house at 2612 Glory View Lane in North Las Vegas and committed various crimes against Mr. Young, his family, and his friends on June 26, 2004. During the incident, the culprits tied up six victims:

Ivan Young. Mr. Young operated an under-the-table car detailing operation from his garage, where he was working when the culprits first approached him. After bringing Mr. Young into his house and tying him up, the robbers demanded Mr. Young tell them where he kept his money and drugs. Mr. Young repeatedly refused to cooperate, and one of the culprits shot a gun toward the ground near him. The bullet shattered on impact, and the fragments hit Mr. Young in the face. Mr. Young survived. V.App.879-87 (Tr. at 39-72).

<u>Jennifer Dennis</u>. Ms. Dennis is Mr. Young's wife. She was in the house, and the robbers tied her up during the incident. V.App.899-905 (Tr. at 120-43).

<u>Aaron Dennis and Joey Posada</u>. Aaron Dennis is Ms. Dennis's son; Joey Posada is Ms. Dennis's nephew. They were also in the house, and the robbers tied them up as well. V.App.882 (Tr. at 51); V.App.1015-21 (Tr. at 33-59).

<u>Ryan John</u>. Mr. John was standing outside his girlfriend's house (near Mr. Young's house) at the start of the incident. While he was outside, someone called him over to Mr. Young's house. He walked over, and the perpetrators apprehended him and tied him up. One of the culprits stole his ATM card and demanded his pin number. Later, Mr. John contacted his bank; a representative told him someone had used his ATM card at a 7-Eleven. V.App.951-59 (Tr. at 49-81).

<u>Jermaun Means</u>. Mr. Means went to Mr. Young's house to give him money for a paint job. When he approached the door, the robbers dragged him inside, tied him up, and took his money. His girlfriend, Destiny Waddy, was waiting in the car; she was unaware the crimes were taking place. V.App.876-79 (Tr. at 25-38).

At first, the lead detective (Jessie Prieto) had few leads. But two days after the incident, a confidential informant contacted the police. The informant had "been providing assistance to the [police] in return for favorable consideration for outstanding warrants." I.App.37 (cleaned up). This informant claimed to have "overheard a subject named Ricky Slaughter bragging about having committed a robbery which was being reported on TV. This robbery was the one which had occurred on Glory View on June 26." *Id.* (cleaned up).

Detective Prieto prepared a suggestive photo lineup with Mr. Slaughter's picture. After showing it to the six victims and Ms. Waddy, four of the victims purported to identify Mr. Slaughter as a perpetrator.

Detective Prieto came to believe another individual, Jacquan Richard, was the second person involved in the home invasion. Detective Prieto created a second photo lineup with a picture of Mr. Richard and showed it to six victims (and possibly Ms. Waddy as well). IX.App.1695-1723. As it turns out, Detective Prieto mistakenly included a *different* photo of Mr. Slaughter (his booking photo from his arrest in this case, mere days after the incident) in the second photo lineup. *Id*. Detective Prieto's report states none of the victims identified *Mr*. *Richard* from this lineup. But it doesn't say whether any of the victims identified *Mr*. *Slaughter* from the lineup. Mr. Slaughter didn't learn until February 2018 that *none* of the victims had identified him from the second photo lineup. IX.App.1722-23.

II. Mr. Slaughter mistakenly pleads guilty.

The State arrested Mr. Slaughter and issued a criminal complaint on July 1, 2004. I.App.51-52. The State repeatedly amended the charging documents. I.App.57-100, 147-54.

Mr. Slaughter elected to represent himself pro se and filed multiple pre-trial motions, including a motion to inspect the original photo lineups. I.App.101-09. He asked the court to issue an order requiring the State to preserve "any and all original photo lineups containing an image of" Mr. Slaughter. I.App.104. He also asked the court to allow him to view the original lineups that the witnesses used to identify Mr. Slaughter. I.App.105. The State filed a response, asserting it had already preserved the lineups. I.App.120-22.

Mr. Slaughter also filed a motion to learn the identity of the confidential informant. I.App.110-19. The State opposed that motion. I.App.123-30. In his reply (filed March 18, 2005), Mr. Slaughter explained the State had shown the witnesses different photo lineups on different occasions. Some of the witnesses identified Mr. Slaughter's picture in one of the lineups (the suggestive lineup). But he alleged none of the witnesses identified his picture in a *second*, non-suggestive photo lineup. I.App.131-46. Relatedly, Mr. Slaughter filed a motion to continue the trial date. I.App.155-61. He explained he was planning to seek a court order requiring the police to disclose his mug shots; he needed his mug shots to prove the police had used one of his photos in that second, non-suggestive lineup.

Before trial, Mr. Slaughter and the State negotiated a guilty plea. I.App.162-206. After entering the plea, Mr. Slaughter pursued various efforts to withdraw it. Those protracted efforts ultimately led to a decision from this Court allowing him to withdraw his plea. III.App.569-77.

III. Mr. Slaughter goes to trial, and the jury convicts him.

On remand, Mr. Slaughter's defense attorneys filed various pretrial motions, including a motion to dismiss the case because the police failed to preserve exculpatory evidence. III.App.578-649. This motion described the second photo lineup: Detective Prieto created the lineup and included a photo of Mr. Richard, but he *also* included a photo of Mr. Slaughter. As the motion explained, it wasn't clear from the discovery whether any witnesses identified Mr. Slaughter from the second lineup, but the defense suspected none of them had. The motion complained Detective Prieto didn't document the outcome of the second photo lineup as well as other details about the lineup and asked the court for corresponding relief.

The State filed an opposition. IV.App.659-61. It conceded the police showed the second photo lineup to the victims but refused to admit none of them identified Mr. Slaughter from that lineup.

The court held argument on the motion on December 1, 2009. Defense counsel explained the second photo lineup was "apparently shown to some or all of the alleged victims by whom, I'm not sure, when, I'm not sure, and what were the results, I'm not sure." IV.App.673. The prosecutor (Marc DiGiacomo) agreed the police showed the second lineup to the victims. *Id.* But he said it would take a "giant leap . . . to say Rickie Slaughter wasn't picked out of those photo lineups." IV.App.675.

Trial began on May 12, 2011. IV.App.709-868; V.App.869-1101; VI.App.1102-74. The jury found Mr. Slaughter guilty on all counts. VI.App.1175-78. The court sentenced him on October 16, 2012. VI.App.1199-268. Mr. Slaughter appealed; this Court affirmed on March 12, 2014. VI.App.1269-74.

9

IV. Mr. Slaughter files a first post-conviction petition.

Mr. Slaughter filed his first (pro se) state post-conviction petition on March 25, 2015. VII.App.1275-443. Among other things, he alleged his trial attorneys provided ineffective assistance because they didn't elicit evidence about the second photo lineup. VII.App.1284-86, 96-99. The State filed a response. VII.App.1444-59. It suggested that if the trial attorneys had brought up the second photo lineup, the witnesses might've testified "they did recognize" Mr. Slaughter in the lineup. VII.App.1454. The court declined to hold a hearing and issued an order denying the petition on July 24, 2015. VII.App.1504-15. Mr. Slaughter appealed; this Court affirmed on July 13, 2016. VIII.App.1612-14.

V. Mr. Slaughter files a second post-conviction petition.

Mr. Slaughter filed his second (pro se) state post-conviction petition on February 12, 2016. VIII.App.1516-96. Among other things, he raised another claim involving the second photo lineup. VIII.App.1539. The court declined to hold a hearing and issued an order denying the petition on June 13, 2016. VIII.App.1597-611. Mr. Slaughter appealed; the Nevada Court of Appeals affirmed on April 19, 2017. VIII.App.1615-19.

VI. Mr. Slaughter files a federal petition, and the federal court grants discovery.

While the appeal from his second state post-conviction petition was pending, Mr. Slaughter filed a federal post-conviction petition. The federal court appointed the Federal Public Defender, District of Nevada, to represent Mr. Slaughter. He filed a counseled amended petition and included claims involving the second photo lineup. He then asked for leave to conduct discovery. VIII.App.1620-32. Among other things, he asked for permission to depose Detective Prieto, so he could question him about the second photo lineup.

The federal court granted the discovery motion on November 20, 2017. VIII.App.1633-34. Mr. Slaughter took Detective Prieto's deposition on February 22, 2018. IX.App.1635-1880.¹ Detective Prieto acknowledged, for the first time, that *none* of the witnesses identified Mr.

¹ See also X.App.1881-2198; XI.App.2199-440 (exhibits). At the risk of overinclusion and duplication, Mr. Slaughter is including a complete set of deposition exhibits in the appendix. That way, the reader can reference the deposition exhibits while reading the deposition transcript, if the reader deems that necessary. Mr. Slaughter includes a table at the start of both volumes that shows which deposition exhibits appear at which appendix page numbers.

Slaughter from the second photo lineup. IX.App.1722-23. Mr. Slaughter also subpoenaed local police agencies and received new exculpatory information that strengthens his alibi. I.App.1-2.

VII. Mr. Slaughter files a third post-conviction petition.

After receiving this new information, Mr. Slaughter filed a new state post-conviction petition on November 20, 2018—within a year of the federal court's order authorizing discovery. XII.App.2443-514.

The lower court held argument on the petition. Mr. DiGiacomo appeared on behalf of the State. The parties discussed the second photo lineup. Mr. DiGiacomo stated, "I would dispute with the defense that Jessie Prieto saying no one picked out Rickie Slaughter from the second lineup means that none of the victims recognized that Rickie Slaughter was in the photo lineup." XIII.App.2722. Mr. DiGiacomo continued, "the reason this came up and the defense even knew about it was because the victims themselves told the State, hey, there's a second photo lineup and Rickie was in it, but . . . we couldn't identify the second suspect." *Id.* In response, undersigned counsel said he was unaware of any evidence supporting that assertion, and "if the State wants to come bring in additional

evidence about that, then we need a hearing to resolve that factual dispute." XIII.App.2725. The court said it intended to deny the petition without a hearing. XIII.App.2727.

Before the lower court entered a corresponding written order, the federal court granted Mr. Slaughter leave to conduct additional discovery by deposing Mr. DiGiacomo. XIII.App.2729-38. In turn, Mr. Slaughter filed a motion in state court asking the court to delay resolving the petition. XIII.App.2739-43. Rather than rule on the petition now, Mr. Slaughter proposed, the lower court should instead stay the case pending Mr. DiGiacomo's deposition. Following the deposition, Mr. Slaughter suggested, the court should allow him to supplement his petition with the new deposition testimony, at which point the court could rule based on a complete record. The State opposed the motion.

Without formally resolving the motion, the lower court issued an order dismissing the petition on April 15, 2019. XIII.App.2754-79.

Mr. Slaughter appealed on May 6, 2019. While the appeal was pending, Mr. Slaughter took Mr. DiGiacomo's deposition, on July 26, 2019. XIV.App.2789-3025.² During the deposition, Mr. DiGiacomo provided extensive material testimony about the second photo lineup, among other subjects, which Mr. Slaughter explains in greater detail below.

Following the deposition, Mr. Slaughter turned his attention back to the pending state court appellate proceedings involving his 2018 petition. Specifically, he filed a motion to expand the record on appeal in this Court, or in the alternative for a remand. XXI.App.4053-64. He explained Mr. DiGiacomo's testimony was relevant to the issues on appeal, so the Court should consider the testimony, or it should remand for further proceedings in the lower court. He attached the deposition transcript and various other new evidence. The Court denied the motion on March 11, 2020. XXII.App.4362-63. It then affirmed the lower court's decision on October 15, 2020. XXII.App.4505-13.

² See also XV.App.3028-223; XVI.App.3224-334; XVII.App.3335-528; XVIII.App.3529-642; XIX.App.3643-851; XX.App.3852-93 (deposition exhibits). At the risk of overinclusion and duplication, Mr. Slaughter provides a complete set of deposition exhibits in the appendix. That way, the reader can reference the deposition exhibits while reading the deposition transcript, if the reader deems that necessary. Mr. Slaughter includes a table at the start each relevant volume that shows which deposition exhibits appear at which appendix page numbers.

VIII. Mr. Slaughter files a fourth post-conviction petition.

After the Court denied his motion to expand the record in the appeal involving the 2018 petition, but before the Court reached a final decision on that appeal, Mr. Slaughter filed a fourth post-conviction petition in the lower court on March 27, 2020. XXII.App.4369-437. The 2020 petition is largely identical to the 2018 petition, except the 2020 petition incorporates Mr. DiGiacomo's deposition testimony.

The lower court held a status hearing on the 2020 petition on June 11, 2020. Mr. Slaughter proposed the lower court reach a prompt decision on the 2020 petition; if the court's decision was adverse, Mr. Slaughter explained, he would appeal the decision and seek to consolidate the appeal with his existing appeal involving the 2018 petition. Mr. Slaughter suggested that procedure would be the most judicially efficient. The lower court elected not to take that approach and instead deferred a decision on the 2020 petition until this Court resolved Mr. Slaughter's appeal in the 2018 proceedings. XXII.App.4504.

This Court affirmed the lower court's decision dismissing Mr. Slaughter's 2018 petition on October 15, 2020. XXII.App.4505-13. The lower court then held argument on the 2020 petition on November 16, 2020. XXII.App.4516-19. It entered an order dismissing the petition on February 12, 2021. XXII.App.4520-29. Mr. Slaughter now appeals.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Although Mr. Slaughter previously raised similar claims and arguments in his appeal in the 2018 proceedings, and although this Court previously rejected those arguments, the Court should give those issues a fresh look in this appeal regarding his 2020 petition.

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