IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RICKIE SLAUGHTER,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Aug 17 2021 02:13 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Case No. 82602

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the district court's denial of Appellant's Fourth Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). First, the district court correctly determined that Appellant's <u>Brady</u> claims are procedurally barred and barred by the law of the case doctrine. The district court correctly found that Appellant's Fourth Petition is time-barred, successive, and barred by the law of the case doctrine with no good cause to overcome the mandatory procedural bars. Second, this Court already determined that Appellant cannot demonstrate that he is actually innocent and thus, this claim is also barred by the law of the case doctrine. Lastly, Appellant does not put forth a cogent argument for why this Court should reconsider its decision in <u>Brown v. McDaniel</u>, 130 Nev. 565, 331 P.3d 867 (2014). Accordingly, the district court properly denied Appellant's Fourth Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction).

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT APPELLANT CANNOT DEMONSTRATE GOOD CAUSE TO OVERCOME THE MANDATORY PROCEDURAL BARS AND THE LAW OF THE CASE DOCTRINE IN ORDER TO RAISE HIS <u>BRADY</u> CLAIMS

Appellant complains that the district court incorrectly determined he cannot establish good cause to raise his <u>Brady</u> claims. AOB, at 18-57. However, Appellant puts forth no new evidence to demonstrate good cause to overcome the mandatory procedural bars. Further, Appellant's <u>Brady</u> claims have been rejected by this Court, and are now barred under law of the case doctrine. XXII AA 4505-4515.

A. The district court correctly found that Appellant's claims were procedurally barred.

As was Appellant's Third Petition, the district court correctly found that the Fourth Petition is also procedurally barred as time-barred and successive.

///

a. Appellant's fourth Petition is time-barred.

The fourth Petition is time-barred with no good cause demonstrated for the

substantial delay in filing. Pursuant to NRS 34.726(1):

Unless there is good cause shown for delay, a petition that challenges the validity of a judgment or sentence must be filed within 1 year of the entry of the judgment of conviction or, if an appeal has been taken from the judgment, within 1 year after the Supreme Court issues its remittitur. For the purposes of this subsection, good cause for delay exists if the petitioner demonstrates to the satisfaction of the court:

That the delay is not the fault of the (a) petitioner; and

That dismissal of the petition as untimely will (b)unduly prejudice the petitioner.

This Court has held that NRS 34.726 should be construed by its plain meaning. Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 873–74, 34 P.3d 519, 528 (2001). As per the language of the statute, the one-year time bar proscribed by NRS 34.726 begins to run from the date the judgment of conviction is filed or a remittitur from a timely direct appeal is filed. Dickerson v. State, 114 Nev. 1084, 1087, 967 P.2d 1132, 1133-

34 (1998).

The one-year time limit for preparing petitions for post-conviction relief under

NRS 34.726 is strictly applied. In Gonzales v. State, 118 Nev. 590, 596, 53 P.3d 901,

904 (2002), this Court rejected a habeas petition that was filed two (2) days late despite evidence presented by the defendant that he purchased postage through the prison and mailed the petition within the one-year time limit.

18

Further, this Court has held that the district court has a *duty* to consider whether a petitioner's post-conviction petition claims are procedurally barred. <u>State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (Riker)</u>, 121 Nev. 225, 231, 112 P.3d 1070, 1074 (2005). The <u>Riker</u> Court held "the statutory rules regarding procedural default are mandatory and cannot be ignored [by the district court] when properly raised by the State." 121 Nev. at 233, 112 P.3d at 1075. This Court has granted no discretion to the district courts regarding whether to apply the statutory procedural bars; the rules *must* be applied.

Here, Appellant filed a direct appeal, and this Court affirmed his convictions. Remittitur issued on April 30, 2014. Thus, pursuant to NRS 34.726, Appellant had until April 30, 2015 to file his Petition. Appellant filed the Fourth Petition on March 27, 2020, well outside of the time allotted for filing such a petition. The Fourth Petition was filed nearly six (6) years after remittitur issued. Thus, absent a showing of good cause for this delay and undue prejudice, the district court correctly found the Fourth Petition is time-barred because of its tardy filing.

b. Appellant's fourth Petition is successive because it fails to allege new grounds for relief.

The Fourth Petition is also procedurally barred due to being successive. NRS 34.810(2) reads:

A second or successive petition *must be dismissed* if the judge or justice determines that it fails to allege new or different grounds for relief and that the prior determination was on the merits or, if new and different grounds are

alleged, the judge or justice finds that the failure of the petitioner to assert those grounds in a prior petition constituted an abuse of the writ.

(emphasis added).

Thus, petitions that fail to allege new or different grounds for relief and the grounds have already been decided on the merits are procedurally barred. Second or successive petitions will only be decided on the merits if the petitioner can show good cause and prejudice. NRS 34.810(3); Lozada v. State, 110 Nev. 349, 358, 871 P.2d 944, 950 (1994).

Application of NRS 34.810 is mandatory. <u>See, e.g., Riker</u>, 121 Nev. at 231, 112 P.3d at 1074. NRS 34.810 substantially limits the judicial review of second or successive habeas petitions. "Unlike initial petitions which certainly require a careful review of the record, *successive petitions may be dismissed based solely on the face of the petition.*" Ford v. Warden, 111 Nev. 872, 882, 901 P.2d 123, 129 (1995) (emphasis added). This Court has stated, "[w]ithout such limitations on the availability of post-conviction remedies, prisoners could petition for relief in perpetuity and thus abuse post-conviction remedies. In addition, meritless, successive and untimely petitions clog the court system and undermine the finality of convictions." <u>Lozada</u>, 110 Nev. at 358, 871 P.2d at 950.

Here, in his Fourth Petition, *all* of Appellant's claims were raised in his Third Petition. Though Appellant added some argument to his claims based upon the deposition testimony of Mr. Digiacomo, his claims are substantively the same, and plead in a substantially similar manner as the claims were plead in the Third Petition. Clearly, the Fourth Petition is successive as it only raises previously-raised claims. Therefore, the district court correctly determined it must be dismissed pursuant to NRS 34.810(2).

B. The district court correctly found that Appellant's claims were barred from consideration under the law of the case doctrine.

Appellant also claims that this Court should reach these issues and that law of the case does not apply because of Mr. Digiacomo's deposition. AOB, at 35-57. However, Appellant's exact <u>Brady</u> claims have already been rejected by this Court and are now barred under law of the case doctrine.

In his Fourth Petition, Appellant raised the same eleven (11) claims presented in his Third Petition. In an attempt to overcome the procedural bars to his substantive claims, he also repeated the same good cause and prejudice and actual innocence arguments from his Third Petition. In affirming denial of his Third Petition, this Court considered these claims and rejected them. XXII AA 4505-4515. This Court's decision in this matter is now law of the case, and cannot be altered through litigation in this Court. <u>Pellegrini v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 860, 879, 34 P.3d 519, 532 (2001) (*citing <u>McNelton v. State</u>, 115 Nev. 396, 414-15, 990 P.2d 1263, 1275 (1999)), <i>abrogated on other grounds by* <u>Rippo v. State</u>, 134 Nev. 411, 423 n.12, 423 P.3d 1094, 1097 n.12 (2018). "The law of a first appeal is law of the case on all subsequent appeals in which the facts are substantially the same." <u>Hall v. State</u>, 91 Nev. 314, 315, 535 P.2d 797, 798 (1975) (quoting <u>Walker v. State</u>, 85 Nev. 337, 343, 455 P.2d 34, 38 (1969)). The district court does not have the authority to overrule this Court. Nev. Const. Art. VI § 6.

Appellant again argues he has demonstrated good cause and prejudice by alleging the State withheld evidence in violation of Brady. AOB, at 35-57. On appellate review of Appellant's Third Petition, this Court explicitly rejected this claim, concluding that "the district court did not err in concluding that appellant has not demonstrated good cause or actual prejudice to excuse the procedural bars based on the alleged Brady violations." XXII AA 4511. Furthermore, the deposition testimony presented nothing substantially new or different regarding any of Appellant's claims, and therefore his claims remain barred from consideration due to the law of the case. See Rippo, 134 Nev. at 427, 423 P.3d at 1100-01. As discussed infra, Section I.C., Appellant cannot use his Brady claims to establish good cause because they have been barred by the law of the case doctrine. Accordingly, the district court correctly determined that the law of the case doctrine bars consideration of Appellant's claims.

In sum, Appellant has not overcome the procedural bars to his untimely and successive Fourth Petition. In an attempt to overcome these bars, he has re-raised the same arguments presented in his Fourth Petition. These claims have been rejected by this Court, and are now barred under the law of the case doctrine. Therefore, the district court correctly determined that consideration of Appellant's claims are procedurally barred and barred by the law of the case doctrine.

C. The district court correctly found that Appellant's failed to demonstrate good cause to overcome the mandatory procedural bars.

Appellant failed to establish good cause and prejudice sufficient to overcome the procedural bars to his Fourth Petition. To avoid procedural default under NRS 34.726, a petitioner has the burden of pleading and proving specific facts that demonstrate good cause for his failure to present his claim in earlier proceedings or to otherwise comply with the statutory requirements, *and* that he will be unduly prejudiced if the petition is dismissed. NRS 34.726(1)(a) (emphasis added). See Hogan v. Warden, 109 Nev. 952, 959-60, 860 P.2d 710, 715-16 (1993); Phelps v. Nevada Dep't of Prisons, 104 Nev. 656, 659, 764 P.2d 1303, 1305 (1988). "A court *must* dismiss a habeas petition if it presents claims that either were or could have been presented in an earlier proceeding, unless the court finds both cause for failing to present the claims earlier or for raising them again and actual prejudice to the petitioner." Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 646-47, 29 P.3d 498, 523 (2001) (emphasis added).

To show good cause for delay under NRS 34.726(1), a petitioner must demonstrate the following: (1) "[t]hat the delay is not the fault of the petitioner" and (2) that the petitioner will be "unduly prejudice[d]" if the petition is dismissed as untimely. NRS 34.726. To meet the first requirement, "a petitioner *must* show that

an impediment external to the defense prevented him or her from complying with the state procedural default rules." Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 248, 252, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003) (emphasis added). "A qualifying impediment might be shown where the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably available *at the time of default*." Clem v. State, 119 Nev. 615, 621, 81 P.3d 521, 525 (2003) (emphasis added). The Court continued, "appellants cannot attempt to manufacture good cause[.]" Id. at 621, 81 P.3d at 526. To find good cause there must be a "substantial reason; one that affords a legal excuse." Hathaway, 119 Nev. at 252, 71 P.3d at 506 (quoting Colley v. State, 105 Nev. 235, 236, 77 3 P.2d 1229, 1230 (1989)). Examples of good cause include interference by State officials and the previous unavailability of a legal or factual basis for a claim. See State v. Huebler, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 19, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012). Clearly, any delay in the filing of the petition must not be the fault of the petitioner. NRS 34.726(1)(a).

In order to establish prejudice, a petitioner must show "not merely that the errors of [the proceedings] created possibility of prejudice, but that they worked to his actual and substantial disadvantage, in affecting the state proceedings with error of constitutional dimensions." <u>Hogan v. Warden</u>, 109 Nev. 952, 960, 860 P.2d 710, 716 (1993) (quoting <u>United States v. Frady</u>, 456 U.S. 152, 170, 102 S. Ct. 1584, 1596 (1982)).

Here, Appellant claims that he can demonstrate good cause to assert his <u>Brady</u> claims because the State withheld material evidence. AOB, at 18-35. Appellant's claim stems around the deposition testimony of Mr. Digiacomo. Specifically, Appellant claims that the State withheld relevant evidence regarding the second photo lineup and Appellant's alibi. <u>Id</u>. However, as discussed <u>supra</u>, Section I.B., Appellant cannot use his <u>Brady</u> claims to establish good cause because they have been barred by the law of the case doctrine.

It is well-settled that Brady and its progeny require a prosecutor to disclose evidence favorable to the defense when that evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment. See Mazzan v. Warden, 116 Nev. 48, 66, 993 P.2d 25 (2000); Jimenez v. State, 112 Nev. 610, 618-19, 918 P.2d 687 (1996). "[T]here are three components to a Brady violation: (1) the evidence at issue is favorable to the accused; (2) the evidence was withheld by the state either intentionally or inadvertently; and (3) prejudice ensued, i.e., the evidence was material." Mazzan, 116 Nev. at 67. "Where the state fails to provide evidence which the defense did not request or requested generally, it is constitutional error if the omitted evidence creates a reasonable doubt which did not otherwise exist. In other words, evidence is material if there is a reasonable probability that the result would have been different if the evidence had been disclosed." Id. at 66 (internal citations omitted). "In Nevada, after a specific request for evidence, a Brady violation is material if there is a reasonable *possibility*

that the omitted evidence would have affected the outcome. <u>Id.</u> (original emphasis) (*citing* <u>Jimenez</u>, 112 Nev. at 618-19, 918 P.2d at 692; <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 1121, 1132, 881 P.2d 1, 8 (1994).

"The mere possibility that an item of undisclosed information might have helped the defense, or might have affected the outcome of the trial, does not establish 'materiality' in the constitutional sense." <u>United States v. Agurs</u>, 427 U.S. 97, 108 96 S. Ct. 2392, 2399-400 (1976). Favorable evidence is material, and constitutional error results, "if there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different." <u>Kyles</u>, 514 U.S. at 433-34, 115 S. Ct. at 1565 (*citing* <u>United States v. Bagley</u>, 473 U.S. 667, 682 105 S. Ct. 3375, 3383 (1985)). A reasonable probability is shown when the nondisclosure undermines confidence in the outcome of the trial. <u>Kyles</u>, 514 U.S. at 434, 115 S. Ct .1565. Appellant is unable to demonstrate prejudice and thus his claim fails.

Further, in Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 625-27, 28 P.3d 498, 510-11 (2001), overruled on other grounds by Lisle v. State, 131 Nev. 356, 366 n.5, 351 P.3d 725, 732 n.5 (2015), the defendant, on appeal, argued that the State had the obligation to continue investigating alternate suspects of the crime, and speculated the State had evidence one of the victims had been an informant previously, which would have demonstrated others had motive to kill her. <u>Id.</u> at 626, 28 P.3d at 510-11. The Court found that the defendant had not demonstrated that such an investigation would have

led to exculpatory information. <u>Id.</u> at 626, 28 P.3d at 510. To undermine confidence in a trial's outcome, a defendant would have to allege the nondisclosure of specific information that not only linked alternate suspects to the crime, but also indicate the defendant was not involved. <u>Id.</u> at 626, 28 P.3d at 510. Further, the Court found that the victim's mere acting as an informant, without at least some evidence that she had received actual threats against her, would not implicate the State's affirmative duty to disclose potentially exculpatory information to the defense because such information must be material. Id. at 627, 28 P.3d at 511.

a. Second photo lineup

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